


Augusta Memorial Park Historic Section

Name of Property

Woodruff County, Arkansas

County and State

5. Classification

Ownership of Property Category of Property

(Check as many boxes as apply) (Check only one box)
[] private [] building(s)
X public-local [] district
[] public-State X site
[] public-Federal [] structure
[] object

Name of related multiple property listing
(Enter “N/A” if property is not part of a multiple property listing.)

N/A

Number of Resources within Property
(Do not include previously listed resources in count.)

Contributing Noncontributing
0 0
1 0 Sites
1 0
0 2 objects
2 2 Total

Number of Contributing resources previously listed
in the National Register

6. Function or Use

Historic Functions
(Enter categories from instructions)

FUNERARY:': cemetery

Current Functions
(Enter categories from instructions)

FUNERARY: cemetery

7. Description

Architectural Classification
(Enter categories from instructions)

N/A

Narrative Description

Materials
(Enter categories from instructions)

foundation  N/A

buildings

structures

walls N/A

roof N/A

other  STONE: marble, granite

(Describe the historic and current condition of the property on one or more continuation sheets.)
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SUMMARY

The Augusta Memorial Park is a cemetery located in the eastern section of Arkansas, along the White River. Approximately three
blocks from the original city limits of Augusta in Woodruff County, the cemetery is the final resting spot of many early settlers of
the area. In 1867, Thomas and Fannie Hough, founders of Augusta, sold land to the City of Augusta for the purpose of a cemetery.
The land was already being used as a cemetery, based on fourteen gravestones dating back to the 1850s. There are a total of 1,432
burials in the Augusta Memorial Park Historic Section. Dating from 1852 to 1952, there are a total of 997 gravestones, making
69% of the cemetery historic. According to local legend, the cemetery may be built upon an ancient Indian burial mound.
Therefore, the number of historic graves does not include the unmarked graves of Native Americans who also used this land for
burials before the settlers.

ELABORATION

The Augusta Memorial Park Historic Section rests upon a mound that may have been used by Native Americans as a burial site.'
Thomas Hough, an early settler to the Augusta area, officially created Crescent Hill in 1852, a five acre cemetery. It was named
Crescent Hill because the terrain is crescent shaped. In 1867, Thomas and Fannie Hough sold Crescent Hill to the City of Augusta.
The original cemetery description is as follows: Commencing at the SE corner of NW quarter of the SE quarter of Section 25,
Township 8 North, Range 4 West, thence due South 38 Links, thence East 5 Chains, and 50 Links, thence North 9 Chains, 9 Links
and 28/100, thence West 5 Chains and 50 Links, thence South to the Point of Beginning.”

Later, W. E. Ferguson, a prominent politician in Augusta, sold adjoining land to the City of Augusta for the expansion of Crescent
Hill. In 1905, he sold 4.75 acres. In 1924 he sold 6.0 acres. In 1969, the heirs of W. E. Ferguson sold 4.3 acres. In 1930, the City
of Augusta renamed Crescent Hill to the Augusta Memorial Park. Thus, this how the original five acre Crescent Hill cemetery
grew in to the now current 20.05 acres Augusta Memorial Park. However, the original five acres is the historic section of the
Augusta Memorial Park being nominated.

The cemetery contains 997 marked historic burials out of a total of 1,432 marked graves. This makes the cemetery 67% historic:
1850s — 14

1860s — 44
1870s — 99
1880s—113
1890s — 100
1900s — 141
1910s — 156
1920s — 100
1930s - 112
1940s — 93

1950-1952 - 25

According to local legend, prior to the settlement of Augusta, Native Americans may have used the site of the Augusta Memorial
Park for their burials. Therefore, an unknown toll of unmarked historic graves may exist, making the historic percentage much
higher.’

! Juanita Bull, Qur County’s First Inhabitants.
? February 26, 1867, Deed Book A, page 455.
* Augusta Memorial Park plaque.
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8. Statement of Signiﬁcance

Applicable National Register Criteria

(Mark “x” in one or more boxes for the criteria qualifying the property

for National Register listing.)

X A Property is associated with events that have made
a significant contribution to the broad patterns of
our history.

[] B Property is associated with the lives of persons
significant in our past.

X] C Property embodies the distinctive characteristics
of a type, period, or method of construction or
represents the work of a master, or possesses
high artistic values, or represents a significant and
distinguishable entity whose components lack
individual distinction.

] D Property has yielded, or is likely to yield,
information important in prehistory or history.

Criteria Considerations
(Mark “x” in all the boxes that apply.)

Property is:
] A owned by a religious institution or used for
religious purposes.

[] B removed from its original location.

[] C. birthplace or grave of a historical figure of outstanding

importance.
X] D acemetery.

] E areconstructed building, object, or structure.

[] F a commemorative property

[] G less than 50 years of age or achieved significance
within the past 50 years.

Levels of Significance (local, state, national)
Local

Areas of Significance (Enter categories from instructions)
EXPLORATION/SETTLEMENT

ART: funerary art

Period of Significance
1852-1953

Significant Dates
1852 (first marked burial)

Significant Person (Complete if Criterion B is marked)
N/A

Cultural Affiliation (Complete if Criterion D is marked)
N/A

Architect/Builder
N/A

Narrative Statement of Significance

(Explain the significance of the property on one or more continuation sheets.)

9. Major Bibliographical References

Bibliography

(Cite the books, articles, and other sources used in preparing this form on one or more continuation sheets.)

Previous documentation on file (NPS):
[] preliminary determination of individual listing (36
CFR 67) has been requested
[] previously listed in the National Register
[] Previously determined eligible by the National
Register
[] designated a National Historic Landmark
] recorded by Historic American Buildings Survey
=
[] recorded by Historic American Engineering
Record #

Primary location of additional data:
X State Historic Preservation Office
[] Other State Agency

[] Federal Agency

[ ] Local Government

[] University

] Other

Name of repository:
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Emerson H. Conner (1859-1904)

E.H. Conner is the son of Bolivar B. Conner. E.H. Conner organized the E.H. Conner Mercantile Company and later established a
branch at Gregory, Arkansas. He was president of the Woodruff County Bank, and organized the Augusta Furniture Company and
the Cotton Seed Oil and Gin Company. He and his brother, John L. Conner, operated a ferry at the foot of Locust Street. During
the winter they would ferry their livestock across the river, and during the summer, they ferried people across the river to the sand
bar for recreation. In 1884, E.H. Conner and J.P. House started a general merchandise company called, House & Conner. In 1901,
E.H. Conner was appointed Commissioner of Public Buildings for Woodruff County. He proposed the plans for the Charles L.
Thompson designed courthouse and jail to the County Court. The Woodruff County Courthouse (NR 12/22/82) was built shortly
afterward. E.H. Conner also had C.W. Clark erect an iron fence around the courthouse and a clock chamber in the tower of the
courthouse. The clock included a 1,000 pound, first-class bell. All of these items were approved by Judge T.E. Stanley.

Laura Cornelius Conner (1864-1952)

L.C. Conner was the wife of E.H. Conner. L.C. Conner attended teaching school in Kentucky. She returned to Augusta in 1884.
She taught in Augusta’s first public school. It consisted of four large rooms, two above and two below. She was made a lifetime
member of the Augusta School Board. She also taught Sunday School in the Methodist Church for thirty years. Sometime between
1910 and 1912, she donated land for a new public school building. In addition to her education interests, L.C. Conner was the first
woman to serve on the Arkansas Penitentiary Commission. While on the commission, she proposed better treatment of the
prisoners. The proposal was defeated by a vote of five to one. She resigned in protest of the defeated proposal. It was widely
publicized and made Arkansans conscious of the problem.

CPT Leonard J. Crocker (1839-1917)

CPT Crocker moved to Gregory, Arkansas, in 1867. He immediately purchased land from William Gregory. By 1870, CPT
Crocker was the largest landowner in Point Township with 2,215 acres. Prior to his death, CPT Crocker confessed to his best
friend, W. E. Ferguson, that he, Crocker, had assumed the name Quantrell and operated under the name in Missouri. He requested
that information be kept secret until after his death. Quantrell and his men used Guerilla type warfare against Union troops during
the Civil War. However, no proof exists to back this claim. CPT Crocker married Gabrellia (Miss Gaby) Younger.

Dr. Felix Delancy Dale (1847-1903)

Dr. Dale was born in Jefferson County, Kentucky. He attended St. Mary’s College at Lebanon, Kentucky. In 1869, he graduated
from the University of Louisiana in medicine. That same year, he moved to Augusta, Arkansas, and began his practice. In 1872,
he married Ida Mablet, a native of Augusta. Throughout his adult life, he remained active in local politics and associations. He
served as town councilman for two years. In 1890, he was the president of the Woodruff County Medical Association. He was
also a member of the Railway Medical Association of Surgeons of the United States, and the Masonic Order, Knights of Honor,
Knights & Ladies of Honor, and a Knight of Templar. Dr. Dale also assisted in the compilation of information for the “History of
Woodruff County” in The Goodspeed Biographical and Historical Memoirs of Eastern Arkansas.

Hon. James B. Dent (1831-1906)

J.B. Dent was a native of Magnolia County, West Virginia. He attended two years at Judson College, Illinois. He then lived in
Chicago for two years, working as a salesman. He later moved to Galena, Missouri, for two more years. He then spent time in
Cairo, Illinois. On July 3, 1861, J.B. Dent enlisted in Co. A, 1*" Illinois Cavalry, and was commissioned a second lieutenant. In
April 1865, he joined the 14" Illinois Cavalry as a major. In July 1865, he was mustered out of service. He was in the battles of
Lexington, Buffington’s Island, Knoxville, and Cumberland Gap. He was captured three times during his service. In the Fall of
1865, he settled in Woodruff County. He quickly became a large landowner. He served as county assessor in 1874, and the
position of county and probate judge from 1882-1888. In 1888, he was elected as a Democrat State senator. He served as a
delegate to the National Democrat Convention in St. Louis, which nominated Cleveland for President. He also defended Gov.
Baxter, during the Brooks-Baxter War, as a lieutenant from Augusta. As a Mason, he attained the degree of Knight Templar.
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CPT Strother E. Dent (1843-1922)

S.E. Dent was the younger brother of J.B. Dent. He was born in Putman County, Illinois. He also enlisted on July 3, 1861, with
the 1*' Illinois Cavalry as a corporal. He was promoted to Regimental Quarter Master Sergeant. After the regiment was mustered
out a year later, he served with the 6™ U.S. Infantry. By the Battle of Nashville, S.E. Dent had achieved the rank of captain of
Company F, 6" Regiment. After the war, he went back to his home in Illinois. In 1867, S.E. Dent moved to Woodruff County and
purchased farm land. He married Ella K. Darling in 1873. In 1885, he began a mercantile business in Riverside. That same year
he married for a second time to Blanche Bancroft. S.E. Dent was a member of the Masonic order, Knights of Honor, Knights &
Ladies of Honor, and a Knight of Templar. He was active in politics, although he never ran for an office. He did however organize
the first Democrat Club of Woodruff County during the presidential campaign of 1888.

Rolfe Eldrigde (1842-1891)

Eldridge was born in Shelby County, Tennessee. His family moved to Woodruff County in 1850. In February 1862, he enlisted in
the Confederate Army, under CPT Hooker’s Calvary and later the 32" Arkansas Infantry Regiment. He participated in the battles
of Prairie Grove, Helena, and Pleasant Hill. After the war, he returned to his family farm to grow cotton and corn. In 1869, he
married Ella Watson. She passed away in 1880. Eldridge then married Mollie Dawson in 1887. Eldridge was a successful farmer,
with four cotton-gins. He was a member of the Methodist Episcopal Church and the Masonic lodge of Knights of Honor. He was
also the president of the Augusta and South Eastern Railway Company, with a company office at Lone Grove (later Gregory).

John Dupree Eldridge (1876-1953)

In 1891, J. D. Eldridge inherited the land of his father, Rolfe Eldridge. Around 1923, J.D. Eldridge and family moved to Little
Rock. In Little Rock, he served as secretary and manager of the Arkansas Cotton Growers Association. A few years later, they
moved back to Gregory, Woodruff County. J.D. Eldridge practiced law and was a member of the state legislature. In 1937 he was
named “Master Farmer” of Arkansas by the Commercial-Appeal. He was president of the Southern Cattlemen’s Association and,
at the time of his death, he was president of the Cache River Production Association. The farm lands in Gregory are still owned and
operated by Eldridge family members.

W.E. Ferguson (1851-1933)

W.E. Ferguson was born in Coahoma County, Mississippi. The Ferguson Family moved to Augusta in 1861. In 1866, he entered
the Emory and Henry College of Emory, Washington County, Virginia, remaining there for two years. He returned to Augusta,
acting as deputy sheriff for two years. In 1870, he moved to Evansville, Indiana, to attend the commercial school there. He
remained for one term. In 1873, he entered the Lebanon Law School in Tennessee. He graduated the following year, and was
admitted to the bar in Augusta. He practiced law for one year, before turning to the family’s farming business. In 1876, he moved
to Dardanelle and worked as a law clerk for two years. He returned to Augusta and clerked for L. Rosen until 1880. In 1880, he
was elected county assessor. In 1882, he was elected sheriff and collector, serving until 1886. In 1886, he was elected county and
circuit clerk and re-elected in 1888. In 1884, he married Mary E. Douglass. W.E. Ferguson was a member of the Masonic
fraternity, a Chapter Mason, a Knight of Honor, and a Knight of Pythias.

Rufus King Fitzhugh, Jr. (1852-1914)

R.K. Fitzhugh, Jr. was born in Greene County, Virginia. In 1859, Fitzhugh’s father moved to Augusta, and purchased land. The
rest of the Fitzhugh family moved to Augusta in 1866. R. K. Fitzhugh, Jr. graduated from the Agricultural and Mechanical College
of Auburn, Alabama, in 1874. He returned home and operated the family farm and gin. In 1878, he was elected county surveyor for
three terms. He was a member of the Masonic fraternity.
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James P. Penn (1833-1894)

J.P. Penn was born in Maury County, Tennessee. In 1849, he moved to Augusta with his sole possession; a trunk with all his
clothes. For a number of years, he worked for a farmer. In 1852, he began clerking for Hamblett & Penn. Two years later, he
clerked for Purssell & Bro. The firm was sold, and J.P. Penn continued with its successor one year. Eventually, J.P. Penn and his
brother, Thomas H., bought the firm and it continued under the name of T. H. Penn & Bro. until the Civil War broke out. In 1861,
J.P. Penn enlisted and served until the war ended. After the war, he clerked for a year at T.H. Penn & Bro. J.P. Penn then
partnered with John T. Hamlett for a mercantile business, Hamblett & Penn. He remained in this firm until 1882, when he sold out
and engaged in the real estate business. He became one of the largest real estate holders in the county. J.P. Penn was one of the
fifteen men arrested, in November 1865, by Brig. General Upham on suspension of engaging in Ku Klux Klan activities. J.P. Penn
was married twice, first to Lucy Bland and then to Martha H. Hall.

COL Leander “Lee” Ramsaur (1829-1881)

COL Ramsaur moved to Augusta in 1860. The records are not clear, but it is speculated that he joined the 1*' Arkansas Mounted
Rifles, also known as the “Augusta Guards,” later that same year, when the cavalry company of the Arkansas State Militia was
organized, from Jackson and White Counties, at Augusta. In May of 1861, he was elected first lieutenant. Shortly later, he was
elected captain of Company D. On May 1, 1862, he was elected captain of the Cavalry Regiment, and then promoted to Lieutenant
Colonel on September 20, 1863. He became a full colonel in 1864. After the war, COL Ramsaur returned to Augusta. He became
a prominent lawyer and ruling elder of the Augusta Presbyterian Church. He also served as county judge from 1874 to 1876.

John W. Revel (1832-1903)

J.W. Revel was born in Northampton County, North Carolina. In 1861, he enlisted in Company A, 18™ Mississippi Cavalry. He
was captured by Union troops and sent to Alton as a prisoner of war for twenty months. In December 1865, after his discharge,
J.W. Revel settled in Woodruff County. He rented land for three years until 1869, when he purchased the property. He was
married three times. He married Abbie Brown in 1868. In 1873, he married Katie Didlake, his second wife. In 1882, he married
his third wife, Mary L. Miller.

Thomas Booker Roddy (1821-1888)

T.B. Roddy was one of the earliest settlers in the Augusta area. He was born in Spartanburg District, South Carolina. He was
orphaned at a young age when both of his parents died on the same day due to disease. He moved to his uncle’s home in
Tennessee. In 1833, the Roddy family moved to then Jackson County, future Woodruff County, about four miles east of Augusta.
T.B. Roddy and his wife, Elizabeth R. Erwin, were farmers. In October 1865, T.B. Roddy sat on the first circuit court as a grand
juryman.

Edmond “Ed” R. Roddy (1849-1921)

E.R. Roddy was born in Woodruff County. He was the son of T.B. Roddy. E.R. Roddy attended school in the log school-house.
He spent the year of 1868 at the Gulf of Mexico, due to a slight misunderstanding between himself and Powell Clayton’s militia.
He returned to the family farm until 1874. He worked for W. P. Campbell, the circuit court clerk and later clerk of the State
Supreme Court. E.R. Roddy married Beatrice Skinner in February 1877. He served as sheriff from 1878 to 1880, and 1886 to
1890. He was a member of the Knights of Honor.

Laura Shell (1856-1943)

L. Shell was born in a log cabin east of Augusta. She attended school in Augusta. Throughout L. Shell’s life, she worked to keep
Crescent Hill, later known as Augusta Memorial Park, clean. She and other women collected contributions for that task. When the
cemetery was renamed Augusta Memorial Park, one of the avenues was named Shell Drive, honoring L. Shell’s work.


























































